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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

MARCO A. MICHALSKI et al. CASENO.

Plaintiffs, : 3:16-cv-2039VAB)
V.

SEMPLE, et al.,
Defendants.

INITIAL REVIEW ORDER

On December 13, 2016, Marco A. Michalskid Patrick S. Camera (collectively
“Plaintiffs”) initiated this acton under 28 U.S.C. § 1983 againsehty-nine individuals from the
Connecticut Department of Correction (“DOCQommissioner Scott Semple, Assistant Deputy
Commissioner Monica Rinaldi, Warden $&darfe, Deputy Warden Richard Laffargue,
Reverend Anthony Bruno, Imam Shamma, Unit Mparavaleriano, CaptaiTorres, Captain
Bailey, Correction Officer Williams, Correctiddfficer Mataos, Correction Officer Milio,
Correction Officer Yaharey, Cagction Officer St. John, Corréan Officer Tello, Correction
Officer Edwards, Correctionfficer Sterno, Correction Officdrawler, Correction Officer
Viska, Correction Officer Robinson, Correcti@ifficer “John Doe,” Correction Officer King,
Correction Officer Buckland, Corcgon Officer Little, Correcton Officer Rowald, Correction
Officer Ellis, Correction OfficeiVhitehead, Correction Officer Lopes, and Correction Officer
Salgado (collectively “Defendasi). ECF No. 1. Plaintiffs arsuing all Defendants in their
individual and official capacitgefor violating Plaintiffs’ rightgguaranteed under the First, Fifth,
Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

On December 22, 2016, the Court granted Michalski’s motion to pracéeana

pauperis ECF No. 7. Despite two notices, Camera néiled a sufficient application to proceed
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in forma pauperisECF No. 8; ECF No. 13. In accordance with the Court’s Order on March 17,
2017, Camera iBISMISSED as a party to this actio®eeECF No. 13.

On July 24, 2017, the Court accepted Miskes Amended Complaint, ECF No. 17,
removing Camera from the case along with déénts Torres, Bailey, Doe, Little, and Rowald,
whose alleged actions solely related to Camdi@. to Amend Compl, ECF No. 16. The Court
therefore will dismiss defendants Torres, Bailey, Doe, Little and Rowald from this case and
review the amended complaint against the ieimg defendants pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915A.

For the reasons that follow, defendants TarRailey, Doe, Little, Rowald, and Salgado
areDISMISSED as defendants to this action. Michalski’'s Motions to Proceed and Commence
Service, ECF No. 14, 22, abENIED as moot.

Michalski’s claims for monetary damagagainst all defendants in their official
capacities ar®I SMISSED under 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b)(2). dhalski’s retaliation claims are
DISM I SSED without prejudice. Michalski’'s Fifthred Eighth Amendment claims are also
DISMISSED.

Michalski's First Amendment Free Exercaed Establishment Clause claims may
proceed against defendants Semple, RinBldino, Shamma, Erfe, Laffargue, Valeriano,
Williams, Mataos, Milio, Yaharey, St. John,llbe Ellis, Edwards, Sterno, Lawler, Viska,
Robinson, Lopes, King, Buckland, and Whiteheathéir individual capacities for monetary
relief and in their official cagcities for declaratory and injutnge relief. Michalski’'s RLUIPA
claims may proceed against those same defendathtsiirofficial capacitiegor injunctive relief
only. The Fourteenth Amendment Equal ProtecGtause claims may proceed against Semple,
Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe and Laffargue ieithndividual capacities for monetary relief

and in their official capacities faleclaratory anthjunctive relief.



l. ALLEGED FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Michalski alleges he is a devout Native Amancwho is and was at all times relevant to
this matter, incarcerated at Cheshire Coroaeti Institution (“Cheshire CI”) in Cheshire,
Connecticut. The DOC allegedly ptoys only two Native Americaalders to conduct religious
services for Native American inmates, and tresseices are alleged to be held only once per
week, while services for other religious denortimas are held anywhere from three to seven
times weekly. Michalski claims that the adt‘smudging,” a purifying or cleansing technique
consisting of burning sacred plants and commureleat is central to Native American religious
practice. Because it is done without a Natiimerican chaplain, individual smudging, on the
other hand, is allegedly natreligious service.

Cheshire CI allegedly limits smudging to teaamates financiallgapable of purchasing
smudging supplies and, therefore, denies indigenates the ability to smudge. In other
facilities, Native American chaplains alletig provide smudging supplies to all Native
American inmates. DOC allegedly permits inmates designated as Native American to
individually smudge and purchase smudge sSapplsing a restrictezorder form. Under
Cheshire CI policy, individual inmates aféegedly permitted to smudge once per day by
requesting smudge time from their unit manager. Collective smudging was allegedly permitted
during regularly scheduled Native American services, but CheShakegedly has not
permitted collective smudging since August 2015e<ttre Cl, however, now conducts Native
American Prayer Circle once per week.

Unlike Islamic inmates, who are allegedly permitted to shower before collective prayer
services, Native American inmates are allegedly not permitted to “cleanse” or purify themselves

prior to prayer. Moreover, DOC allegedly pétsrinmates to purchase only three herbs for



smudging: sage, cedar and kinnikinnick. DOC prohithiespurchase of tobacco, the most sacred
and most important herb for smudging. Defend&@emple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, and
Laffargue allegedly dictate or enforce thdes regarding avaitde smudging supplies and
ceremonies in the prisons. They also allegeestrict access to “sweat lodge,” another
instrumental rite of the Native American redig, to once every two months, whereas other
prisons across the country allegedly permitube of sweat lodge once per week. Moreover,
Cheshire Cl allegedly providesur Islamic and eleven Christian services per week, but only one
weekly Native American service.

While Cheshire CI allegedly provides eduoatl and cultural activities for Catholic and
Islamic inmates, such as Bible study, chaird Qur'an study, it allegedly does not provide any
comparable opportunities for Nativenerican inmates. The libraat Cheshire CI allegedly has
a “spirituality” section, which offers books on @aticism, Islam, and Christianity, but nothing
regarding the Native Americarligion. Despite allegedly houng) over 700 Native American
inmates, DOC allegedly provides only onetida American religious article for purchase
through commissary, compared to nine Cathaltcles, sixteen Islamic articles, and three
Jewish articles. Allegedly, under DOC policy, eaglgious designation shdave no less than
two services per month, but, at&mire Cl, the policy is allegly routinely ignored for Native
American services.

Cheshire Cl allegedly suspentiative American religiouservices from March 2016 to
August 2016, due to a chaplain being injured, Byithat time, Shamma allegedly confiscated
Michalski’s smudging supplies as ‘ftivaband” and only return theseveral months later. An

item allegedly is considered contraband ahlyis not approved for purchase through



commissary. Upon returningetitems to the “A/P room‘"Shamma allegedly warned Michalski
that he would confiscate Michalski’'s smudgingglies again if Michalski did not use them
daily. Michalski claims he fileé two administrative grievancesgarding the suspension of
Native American services, but theeyrances were allegedly ignored.

Individual smudge call at Cheshire ClI allegetilkes place at 5:45 a.m. on weekdays and
4:15 a.m. on weekends and holidays. The cooeatiofficer allegedly asgned to the A/P room
is tasked with announcing “smudge call” to all offis in the facility over the radio. The officers
allegedly then transport the Native Americamates from their units to the A/P room. The
inmates are allegedly provided twenty minutesrtaudge before they are returned to their
housing units. Although it is alleggdagainst policy for an inmate place anything in his cell
window, Michalski allegedly often places a snsadn in his cell window to remind the officers
about smudge call. At times, smudge call allegedcurs at the same time as “chow call,” and
Michalski is allegedly then forced to ch@dsetween practicing $ireligion or eating.

On several occasions in August and 8egier of 2016, Defendants Williams, Mataos,
Milio, Yaharey, Tello, Edwards, Sterno, RobinsWiska and Ellis allegedly disregarded the
smudge call announcement and denied Michatekability to smudge. When Michalski
allegedly inquired about whether smudge wals announced, Yaharey and St. John allegedly
became “demeaning, hostile, and threatenindglégdly, Tello also responded to Michalski
with “racist comments.” On one occasion, &hillegedly denied Michalski matches or a
cigarette lighter for smudging purposes, @dlély in violation of DOC policy. Michalski
allegedly submitted several grievances regartie denials of smudge call, but allegedly

nothing was done about them. Moreover, on &aper 1, 2016, Whitehead allegedly denied,

L While the Amended Complaint does not define “A/P room,” the Court understand it to mean the Admitting and
Processing Room.



without justification, all Natie American inmates participag in sweat lodge, including
Michalski, their concluding meal, which is artegral part of the sweat lodge ceremony.

On September 16, 2016, Cheshire CI allegedly permitted Native American inmates to
celebrate Strawberry Festival, allegedly onénaf Native American holidays celebrated with a
meal consisting of fresh fruit and vegetablesndwead, and fresh moose, venison, or buffalo.
Before that holiday, Michalski l@igedly wrote to Valeriano arichffargue, requesting that they
be permitted to smudge before celebrating thelé&yp, but Michalski’'s requests allegedly went
unanswered. During the celebaatj the DOC staff allegedly dexd inmates sufficient time to
pray and only provided a cold meal with froztrawberries, canned getables, and processed
meat.

In late September and early October 2016, Tatld Lopes allegedly informed Michalski
and other Native American inmates that smuclgjewas cancelled and ordered the inmates to
return to their units. Michalski believes thhts was done in retaliatn for filing grievances
regarding the suspension ohdees and denials of indidual smudging. Michalski allegedly
wrote letters to defendant Valeriano complagnabout the smudge calincelations but was
allegedly “met with answers contradiogi [DOC] Native American Smudge Policy” and
procedures. On October 14, 2016, Michalski imde other Native American inmates were
allegedly subjected to drug tegj in “retaliation for the mangrievances and complaints”
Michalski had filed. A second drug tedtegedly followed one month later.

On October 21, 2016, Cheshire ClI alleggatbrmitted Michalski and other Native
American inmates to celebrate the Native Amerigaliday of Harvest Festival, which is also
traditionally celebrated with a communal meal of fresh fruits, vegetables, and meat. On the way

to the auditorium to celebraktarvest Festival, Michaki allegedly was “met with a strong show



of force” by the correction officers, who tted him in a “demeaning, hostile manner.” The
officers present at the ceremoriegedly continuously interruptettie prayer services. When the
ceremony ended, ten-to-twenty offisaxllegedly harassed Michalski.

On three occasions in late OctoR2é16, King, Buckland, and Tello allegedly
“disregarded” smudge call. In doing so, Bucidallegedly said to Michalski: “I don’t care,
write me up. | don’t have to let you out.” On November 7 and 10, 2016, Salgado allegedly made
unprovoked “racist comments” to Michalski.

Michalski alleges that he was routinelyr&ssed by various correction officers in the
hallways, while returning from smudge call.eTbfficers allegedly would chant, make “bird
noises,” or issue “stereotypical comments.” BHeged denials of smudge call increased after
Michalski filed grievances against officers in the facility.

Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court must “review . . . a complaintarcivil action in which a prisoner seeks
redress from a governmental entity or oéfi or employee of a governmental ent#y28 U.S.C.

8 1915A(a).The Court must “identify cogmable claims or dismiss the complaint, or any portion
of the complaint,” if the complaint or any of its parts ‘drevolous, malicious, or fails to state a

claim upon which relief may be granted”‘@eeks monetary relief from a defendant who is
immune from such relief.ld. § 1915A(b).
The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requivat a plaintiff pleasnly “a short and plain

statement of the claim showing that the pleadentgled to relief,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2), to

2 A prisoner is defined asahy person incarcerated or detained iy facility who is accusd of, convicted of,
sentenced for, or adjudicated delinquent for, violations of criminal law or the terms and conditions of parole,
probation, pretrial release, or diversionary program. 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(c).



provide the defendantdir notice of what the . . . claim and the grounds upon which it rests.”
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).

A plaintiff's “[flactual allegations must benough to raise a righd relief above the
speculative level,” and assert a sawf action with enough heft to show entitlement to relief and
“enough facts to state a claim to rélieat is plausible on its faceTwombly 550 U.S. at 555,
570. A claim is facially plausible ithe plaintiff pleads factualantent that allows the court to
draw the reasonable inference that the migd@t is liable for the misconduct allegedshcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Although “detailedtiial allegations” are not required, a
complaint must offer more than “labels and dasons,” “a formulaic recitation of the elements
of a cause of action,” or “naked assertgjhflevoid of “furtherfactual enhancementTwombly
550 U.S. at 555-57. Plausibility tite pleading stage is nonetheldsginct from probability, and
“a well-pleaded complaint may proceed even stitkes a savvy judge that actual proof of [the
claims] is improbable, and ... recayas very remote and unlikelyld. at 556 (internal quotation
marks omitted).

Pro secomplaints, however, “must be constrdibérally and interpreted to raise the
strongest arguments that they suggedyKes v. Bank of Anv.23 F.3d 399, 403 (2d Cir. 2013)
(internal quotation marks omitted) (quotiigestman v. Fed. Bureau of Prisqid&0 F.3d 471,
474 (2d Cir. 2006))see also Tracy v. Freshwaté&23 F.3d 90, 101-02 (2d Cir. 2010)
(discussing the “special solicitude” courts affpro selitigants).

[11. DISCUSSION

Michalski contends that Semple, RinaBruno, Shamma, Erfe adffargue violated

Michalski’s First Amendment right to the freeeggise of religion, his Fourteenth Amendment

right to equal protection of tHaws and his Eighth Amendmengint of protection against cruel



and unusual punishment, in addition to violating irst Amendment’s Establishment Clause or
the Religious Land Use and InstitutionaliZzeéeksons Act (“RLUIPA”) by suspending Native
American religious services from Mdar2016 to August 2016, denying collective smudging,
restricting access to the swéadge and Native American smiging supplies, including the
sacred pipe, providing an unequal number of religichaplains and literature in DOC facilities,
denying equal access to “educational antucally enriching oppdunities” for Native

American inmates, and denying “fresh traditional foods” for celebration of the Strawberry and
Harvest Festivals.

Michalski also claims that Valeriano,illams, Mataos, Milio, Yaharey, St. John, Tello,
Ellis, Edwards, Sterno, Lawler, Viska, Robon, Lopes, King, Buckland, Erfe, Laffargue,
Semple, and Rinaldi violated Michalski'ghts under the Free Exercise Clause, Eighth
Amendment, and RLUIPA by denying him individual smudging on several occasions and that
defendant Whitehead violated the Free Exser€&lause and Eighth Amendment by denying him
participation in sweat lodge.

Michalski further claims that defendant Shramviolated the Free Exercise Clause and
Eighth Amendment by confiscating his smudge supplies.

Finally, Michalski claims that “[tlhe campg of harassment and retaliation for utilizing
the prison grievance system by the defendantdated his First, Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth
Amendment rights.

Michalski seeks declaratory relief, injunctiraive in the form of specific services for
Native American inmates and compensatamg punitive damages in the amount of $20,000
against each defendant.

A. Monetary Damages



A claim against an individual in that ingdlual’s personal capacitiseek|s] to impose
personal liability upon a government official factions he takes under color of state law.”
Kentucky v. Grahamt73 U.S. 159, 165 (1985). tmntrast, a claim againah individual in that
individual’s official capacity, “generally represent[s] grdnother way of pleading an action
against an entity of which an officer is an ageltt.”L65—66(citing Monell v. New York City
Dept. of Soc. Service436 U.S. 658, 690, n. 55 (1978)). “[Alaintiff seeking to recover on a
damages judgment in an offaticapacity suit must look toéhgovernment entity itselfld. at
166. Absent consent from a state, the ElevAmiendment bars damages claims against it or
entities constituted under its authoriB8ee Quern v. Jordad40 U.S. 332, 340 (1979) (“There
can be no doubt, however, that suit against taeeSind its Board of Corrections is barred by the
Eleventh Amendment, unless Alabama harssented to the filing of such a suit.”).

Becausdefendants are alleged to be Connectizepartment of Correction employees,
to the extent that Michalski seeks money dammdgem Defendants in theofficial capacities,
those claims are barred by the Eleventh AmendnSsd.Grahan473 U.S. afl65—-66 Quern
440 U.S. at 342. 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915A(b)(2) requirexbert to dismiss all such claims against
DefendantsSee id(“On review, the court shall. . dismiss the complaint, or any portion of the
complaint, if the complaint . . . seeks monetaflieférom a defendant who is immune from such
relief.”).

B. First Amendment and RLUIPA Claims

Michalski claims that the defidants violated his rights undire First Amendment in the
following ways.

First, he argues that defendants Senfiealdi, Bruno, Shammd&rfe, and Laffargue

violated his right to freely etcise his religion, the Estagtiment Clause of the First

10



Amendment, and RLUIPA by suspending Native &kiman prayer services from March to
August 2016, denying collective smudging, restnigtsmudging supplies, employing an unequal
amount of Native American chaplains, providamgunequal amount of religious literature and
educational opportunity, denyimdichalski access to the swdatlge ceremony and the sacred
pipe, and denying adequate ceremonial fdod¢he two Native American holidays.

Second, he claims that Semple, Rindkife, Laffargue, Valeriano, Williams, Mataos,
Milio, Yaharey, St. John, Tello, Ellis, Edwardaerno, Lawler, Viska, Robinson, Lopes, King
and Buckland violated his free exercise rightt RLUIPA by denying him the ability to smudge
on several occasions.

Third, Michalski claims that Whitehead vadéd his free exercisegghts by denying him
participation in the sweat lodgeremony. Fourth, he claimsattShamma violated his free
exercise right by confiscating his smudge suppkeglly, in violation ofthe First Amendment,
“the defendants” retaliated agat him for availing himself ahe prison grievance system by
harassing and threatening him.

1. FreeExerciseof Religion

The First Amendment provides that Governmshiall make no law prohibiting the free
exercise” of religion. U.S. Const. amendskg alsaCantwell v. Stat of Connecticyt310 U.S.
296, 303 (1940) (incorporating theclerExercise Clause as binding on the states by way of the
Fourteenth Amendment’s g@antee of due processPrisoners have long been understood to
retain some measure of the constitutionatgetion afforded by the First Amendment’s Free
Exercise ClauseFord v. McGinnis 352 F.3d 582, 588 (2d Cir. 2003)T|he Free Exercise
Clause, requires government respect for,rmmnterference with, theeligious beliefs and

practices of our Nation’s peopleCutter v. Wilkinson544 U.S. 709, 719 (2005). “Balanced

11



against the constitutional protections afforded prison inmates, including the right to free exercise
of religion, [however,] are the t@rests of prison officials chged with complex duties arising

from administration of the penal systerfdrd, 352 F.3d at 588 (internal quotation marks

omitted). Therefore, a prisoner’s free exercisegnelis “judged under a ‘reasonableness’ test less
restrictive than that dinarily applied to alleged infringeents of fundamental constitutional

rights.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). A challenged government action “passes
constitutional muster if it is reasonalyBlated to legitimate penological interestSdlahuddin v.
Goord 467 F.3d 263, 274 (2d Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Second Circuit has not fully decided the requirements for a prisoner to state a
plausible free exercise claim. 8alahuddinthe Second Circuit held that, to state such a claim,
“[t]he prisoner must show atetthreshold that the disputednduct substantially burden[ed] his
sincerely held religious beliefsSalahuddin467 F.3d at 274-75. In evaluating whether the
prisoner has made that showing, a court doéSavaluate the objectiveeasonableness of the
prisoner’s belief.’Ford, 352 F.3d at 590. Rather, the Coutssrutiny extends only to whether
[the prisoner] sincerely holds arfiaular belief and whether the I is religious in nature.id.
(internal quotation marks omitted).

More recently, however, the Second Circuit expressed doubt as to whether the prisoner
must make this threshold showir®ee Holland v. Goord’58 F.3d 215, 220 (2d Cir. 2014) (“It
has not been decided in thig€iit whether, to state a caiunder the First Amendment’'s Free
Exercise Clause, a prisoner must show athheshold that the disped conduct substantially
burdens his sincerely held religious beliefs.”) (internal quotation marks omgesiglso
Williams v. Morton 343 F.3d 212, 217 (3d Cir. 2003) (derioto apply substantial burden

test).

12



If the prisoner states a plabk free exercise claim, thefdadant then bears the limited
burden of showing that the challenged conductasonably related to legitimate penological
interestsSalahuddin467 F.3d at 275ccord Turner v. Safley82 U.S. 78, 89 (1987)[(V]hen
a prison regulation impinges on integ’ constitutional rights, the regulation is valid if it is
reasonably related to legitimate penological interest§Thhe burden remains with the prisoner
to show that these [articuat] concerns were irrationald. (internal quotation marks omitted).

Construing his complaint liberally, it appearsciialski has stated plausible free exercise
claims against Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamirée, Laffargue, Valeriano, Williams, Mataos,
Milio, Yaharey, St. John, Tello, Ellis, Edwardaerno, Lawler, Viska, Robinson, Lopes, King,
Buckland, and Whitehead. He allsgbat these defendants intee@mvith his ability to smudge,
“the most instrumental practice in thetNa American religion,’by suspending Native
American prayer services from MarchAagust 2016, denying coltéve and individual
smudging, and restricting access to smudge sugglieh as matches and sacred pipes.

Cutter, 544 U.S. at 720The exercise of religion oftemvolves not only belief and profession
but the performance of physiaaits such as assembling witlhets for a worship service or
participating in sacramental use of breaudl wine.” (internal citation omitted)poode v. Brunp
10 Civ. 1734 (SRU), 2013 WL 5448442, *6 (D. Conn. Sep. 30, 20PRi(itiff identifies the

right at issue as his First Amendment righptssess objects, participate in ceremonies and
observe holidays that are part of his sincerelg haligious beliefs and necessary to practice his
religion.”).

Michalski also claims that Semple, Ridia Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, Laffargue and
Whitehead interfered with his ability to pratihis Native American higion by restricting his

access to the sweat lodge ceremony and failipgaeide adequate food to celebrate Native
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American holidaysSee Salahuddj67 F.3d at 276 (noting that tparties did not dispute that
plaintiff prisoner stated a plalse substantial burden on plaifig free exercise of religion by
alleging that defendants deniednhieligious meals in his celllford, 352 F.3d at 594 (noting
that a factual issue existed as to whether thet@isparticipation in a religious feast was central
to that religion)McEachin v. McGinnis357 F.3d 197, 203 (2d Cir. 2004t (s nevertheless
worth noting that courts have generally foundttto deny prison inmates the provision of food
that satisfies the dictates of their faith doesamstitutionally burden their free exercise rights.”);
Benjamin v. Coughlim@05 F.2d 571, 579 (2d Cir. 1990) (“Priso;bave a right to receive diets
consistent with their religious scruples.”).

Michalski’s free exercise claims may proceagainst the above-mentioned defendants in
their individual and official capacities.

2. Establishment Clause

Michalski alleges that Semple, RinalBruno, Shamma, Erfe, and Laffargue suspended
Native American services for several monthsyielé collective smudgun restricted access to
the sweat lodge ceremony, denied adequatenmemial foods, and provided an unequal amount
of chaplains, supplies, literatiand educational opportunities whempared to other religions,
in violation of the First Amendment’s Establishment Clause.

The First Amendment of the Constitutioropides that “Congigs shall make no law
respecting an establishment of religion.” U.S. Const. amesdelalsdverson v. Bd. of Ed. of
Ewing Twp, 330 U.S. 1, 15 (1947) (incorporating thedbdishment Clausas binding on the
states by way of the Fourteenth Andment’s guarantee of due procebsgeciding an
Establishment Clause claim, the Second Cirgpilies the three-patst articulated i.emon v.

Kurtzman 403 U.S. 602 (1971%ee Bronx Household of FaithRd. Of Educ. of City of New
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York 650 F.3d 30, 40 n. 9 (2d Cir. 2011) (“*Althoutlfle Lemon test has been much criticized,
the Supreme Court has declineddisavow it and it contingeto govern the analysis of
Establishment Clause claims in this Circuit”). Undlemon “government action which interacts
with religion (1) must have asular purpose; (2) must have apipal or primary effect that
neither advances nor inhibits religion; &) must not foster an excessive government
entanglement with religionBronx Household of Faitl650 F.3d at 40 (internal quotation marks
omitted).

Like free exercise claims, prisoners’ editstiment of religion claims are tempered by
Turners reasonableness teSee482 U.S. at 89 (“[Whjen a prison regulation impinges on
inmates’ constitutional rights, the regulation idid/# it is reasonably related to legitimate
penological interests.’Rossi v. Fishcerl3 Civ. 3167 (PKC), 2015 WL 769551, *12 (S.D.N.Y.
Feb. 24, 2015)*[A] prison regulation thatimpinges on an inmate’s constitutional rights is
nevertheless valid if it is reasonably related to legitimate penological intexebtais, the
challenged government action is valid reasonably relates to legitimate penological interests.

Since the Court has determined that Michafelg pled a plausible free exercise claims, it
will allow the Establishment Clause claims togged for now and reassess at a later stage of
this caseSee RossRk015 WL 769551, *11“Where plaintiff has plausibly alleged a free
exercise violation, the Court need not decidiiattime whether plaintiff also states a claim
under the Establishment Clause . .); See also Dietz v. Bouldit36 S. Ct. 1885, 1891 (2016)
(“[A] district court possesses inherent powers #ratgoverned not by rule or statute but by the
control necessarily vested in ctsito manage their own affairs as to achieve the orderly and

expeditious disposition of cases(iternal quotation marks omitted)).
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3. RLUIPA

Michalski has plead that the defendantdated RLUIPA by denying individual and
collective smudging, suspending Native Ameripaayer services, and denying access to
smudge supplies, ceremonial food, and the sleege ceremony. His RLUIPA claims may
proceed.

The Religious Land Use arastitutionalized Persons Aof 2000 (RLUIPA) provides
that“[n]o government shall impose a substantiaidan on the religious exercise of a person
residing in or confined to an institution. . . unless the government demonstrates that imposition of
the burden . . .is the least restite means of furthering [a] corajting governmental interest.”
42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1(gaccord Holt v. Hobbs135 S. Ct. 853, 859 (2015). Congress enacted
RLUIPA to provide greater prettion for religious esrcise than is ailable under the Free
Exercise Clause of the First Amendmaehblt, 135 S. Ct. at 859-6@{olland, 758 F.3d at 224
(stating that RLUIPA provides a more sfgent standard than First Amendment).

“A person may assert a violation of [RLUAPas a claim or defense in a judicial
proceeding and obtain appropria¢dief against a governmen#2 U.S.C. § 2000cc-2(a). The
Second Circuit, however, has hédit RLUIPA “does not authime monetary damages against
state officers in either theiffecial or individual capacities.Holland, 758 F.3d at 224ccord
Washington v. Gonyed31 F.3d 143, 144 (2d Cir. 2013). Thus, a plaintiff may only obtain
injunctive relief as a rendy for a RLUIPA violation.

For the same reasons discussed amygraSection I11(C)(1), Michalski’'s RLUIPA
claims may proceed against Semple, Rind&diino, Shamma, Erfe, Laffargue, Valeriano,

Williams, Mataos, Milio, Yaharey, St. John,llbe Ellis, Edwards, Sterno, Lawler, Viska,

16



Robinson, Lopes, King, Buckland, and Whiteheath@ir individual and official capacities for
injunctive relief only.
4. Retaliation

Michalski alleges that he was retaliated against for filing grievances complaining of
constitutional violations. On éhfacts as plead and liberally construed, the Complaint fails to
state a claim of retaliation.

“Prison officials may not retaliate againsmates for exercising their constitutional
rights.” Riddick v. Arnongll-cv-631 (SRU), 2012 WL 2716355 *6 (D. Conn. 2012). “To
prevail on a First Amendment retaliation claim jiamate must establish (1) that the speech or
conduct at issue was protected, (2) that thendizfiet took adverse actiagainst the plaintiff,
and (3) that there was a calusannection between the proted [conduct] and the adverse
action.”Holland, 758 F.3d at 225 (internal quotation marks omitted (qud&smnal v. Goord
558 F.3d 119, 128 (2d Cir. 2009))). The inmate beabtimden of showing that “the protected
conduct was a substantial and motivating factahéprison officialsdisciplinary decision.'ld.
at 225 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Michalski alleges that he used the prisoiegince system to complain about alleged
constitutional violations, which irfetably constitute protected activitgee Graham v.
Henderson89 F.3d 75, 80 (2d Cir. 1996)Iis court has held thattaiation against a prisoner
for pursuing a grievance violatd®e right to petition governmefudr the redress of grievances
guaranteed by the First and FourteentheAindments and is actionable under § 193&8lon v.
Coughlin 58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1998Frisoners. . . have a constitutional right of access to
the courts and to petition the government forrédress of grievances, and prison officials may

not retaliate against prisoners tbe exercise of that right.”).
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At the pleading stage, Michalski mugive the defendant[s] famotice of what the claim
is and the [factual] grounds upon which it restavombly 550 U.S. at 554. Michalski alleges
that officers would chant and make “bird noiseghich allegedly increased in frequency after
Michalski allegedly engagkthe grievance systemilichalski’s “formulaic recitation” of
allegations that some defendants engagedem@&hning, hostile and threatening behavior” “will
not due.”ld. Furthermore, Michalski’s claim th&algado, on two occasion, made unprovoked
“racist comments,” suffers from the same defseg id. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (“[A] complaint
[does not] suffice if it tenders naked assertionsodeof further factuaknhancement.” (internal
guotation marks omitted)), but Michalski also fadsallege that Salgado’s statements, whatever
their contents, were in retaliation for Mickki grieving alleged constitutional deprivations.
While the Court makes no judgment about wheltighalski, in fact, endured hostile conduct,
for purposes of review under 28 U.S.C. § 19154&,@omplaint must contain more factual detall
for his retaliation claim to go forward.

Michalski’s allegation that defelants retaliated against him for filing a grievance, fails
for another reasoriTo state a retaliation claim, the @plaint, having shown conduct protected
by the Constitution or federal law, must pleaaitttinis conduct was a ‘substantial or motivating
factor’ in the alleged retaliatory conducRiddick 2012 WL 2716355, at *6 (quotirfgried! v.

City of New York210 F.3d 79, 85 (2d Cir.2000). &halski’'s Complaint, berally read, fails to
do so.

For example, afteMichalski allegedly submitted several grievances regarding the denials
of smudge call, which allegedly went unenesed, on September 1, 2016, Whitehead allegedly
denied all Native American inmates participgtin sweat lodge, including Michalski, their

concluding meal. From the Complaint, given shertage of alleged factual content, even
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“construed liberally and interpied to raise the strongest angents that [it] suggest[s]3ykes
723 F.3d at 403, the Court cannot infer that Miskigd alleged grievances were plausibly a
“substantial or motivating factofor Whitehead’s denial of the concluding médaied|, 210

F.3d at 85see alsdriddick 2012 WL 2716355 *6 (“Because clairokretaliation are easily
fabricated, the courts considerchiclaims with skepticism arréquire that they be supported by
specific facts; conclusory seahents are not sufficient.”).

Michalski also alleges that he and othetildaAmerican inmates were subjected to drug
testing days after he wrote Vabkmo a letter complaining abobéing denied the opportunity to
smudge. Although close in time to the protectedduict, the requirement that Michalski undergo
urinalysis drug testing, standing alone, does notsghurise to the levedf disciplinary conduct
sufficient for a retaliation claim, namely becausefifgners are required to tolerate more
serious conduct than public employees or pevatizens before stating a retaliation claim.”
Riddick v. ArnongNo. 3:11CV631 SRU, 2012 WL 27163%8,*6 (D. Conn. July 9, 2012%ee
also id.(“[T]he allegedly retaliatory conduct musg¢ sufficiently harsh to deter a similarly
situated inmate of ordinary resolve from exercising his constitutional rights.”). Furthermore, the
Complaint does not allege how or if the twbet Native American inmates who were allegedly
subject to drug testing with Michalski partiaie in religious obsermae or had themselves
grieved DOC'’s denial a§mudging opportunities.

For the foregoing reasons, Michalski'saléation claims must be dismissed.

Furthermore, because the Complaint failstiie a plausible ta&iation claim against
Salgado, and the Complaint makes no othegatlens relating to Salgado, the Court must

dismiss Salgado as a defendasgl'wombly 550 U.S. 555 (noting that Fed. Rule. Civ. P.
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8(a)(2) requires a defendant be givéar notice of what thelaim is and the grounds upon
which it rests.”)

B. Equal Protection

In this case, Michalski claims that tf@lowing actions constitted equal protection
violations: (1) the suspension of Native Amerigaayer services from March to August 2016 by
Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, and aajtie; (2) the denialf collective smudging by
Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, and &aftie; (3) the “unequal access to educational
and culturally enriching opptamities” by Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, and
Laffargue; and (4) the “denial of fresh tradita foods on the Native American holidays” by
Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Erfe, and Laffargue.

The Court finds that Michalski has failed to plead a viable equal protection claim
regarding suspension of Native American pragwices from March to August and denial of
certain foods during Native American holidaljéchalski’s claims regarding the denial of
collective smudging, denying equal access to mligiiterature and educational opportunities
claims may proceed.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that “[slate shall . . . deny to any person within
its jurisdiction the equairotection of the laws.U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § The Equal
Protection Clause “is essentiaflydirection that all persons dlarly situated should be treated
alike.” City of Cleburne, Tex.. Cleburne Living Ctr.473 U.S. 432, 439 (1985). The Clause
“protects prisoners frofmvidious discrimination.’Riddick 2012 WL 2716355, *3. It does not,
however, require identical treatment &ach individual; rather, it requires thatl persons
similarly situated should be treated alik€ity of Cleburne Tex473 U.S. at 439. “To state a

claim for an equal protection violation, a plafhthust plausibly allegéhat he was treated
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differently than others similarly situated aseault of intentional opurposeful discrimination.”
Rossj 2015 WL 769551, *13 (internal quaitan marks omitted) (quotinBhillips v. Girdich
408 F.3d 124, 129 (2d Cir. 2005).

Regarding the first claim, Michalski lasowledges that the suspension of Native
American prayer services from March to AugB816 was due to an injury sustained by one of
the Native American elders. He does not allege, if at all, the suspension constituted
disparate treatment “as a result of mtenal or purposeful discriminationRossj 2015 WL
769551, *13. On the facts as plead and “interprededise the strongest arguments that they
suggest,” the Complaint does mb@wusibly plead a claim of digpate treatment regarding DOC’s
suspension of prayer services from March to August 2846.Syke§23 F.3d at 403.

Michalski’'s second claim regarding the deraatollective smudging plausibly states an
equal protection violation. Mhalski alleges that, in#gust 2015, Cheshire CI stopped
permitting collective smudging, a clesang ritual which must takplace outside and, instead,
restricts Native American inmates to weeklayer circles indoors. Native American inmates
allegedly also have limited access to smudgimpbes. In contrast, Michalski alleges that
Islamic inmates are permitted to “cleanse” before their prayer services. These allegations,
construed liberally, are sufficient to stateesual protection claim against Semple, Rinaldi,
Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, and Laffae and may proceed.

Michalski has stated a plausible equal protection claim against Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno,
Shamma, Erfe, and Laffargue for denying equal sete religious literature and educational
opportunities. Specifically, Michalsklleges that, while the defdants offer educational groups
for inmates of other religious faiths, suah Catholic bible study, Arabic study, and Quran

study, DOC does not offer any such opportunitiesNative American inmates. He further
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alleges that the prison library provides literaton Catholic and Ishaic religions but nothing
pertaining to Native Americanligious practices. These allegations plausibly state an equal
protection claimSee Ramos v. Dep’t of CqriL5 Civ. 1444 (VAB), 2016 WL 740394, *3 (D.
Conn. Feb. 24, 2016) (holding that a prisoner stated plausible equal protection claim against
prison reverend and Commissioner of Correction foialef tarot cards tpractice Santeria
religion when inmates of other religious faiths are permitted to possess items central to their
religions).

As for the fourth claim, Michalski has notfBaiently alleged how the denial of certain
foods on the Native American holidays amouritedn equal protection violation. While the
Equal Protection Clae instructs thatll persons similarly situateshould be treated alike,” the
Complaint nowhere alleges that the DOC accomnesdihe dietary needs of inmates of other
faiths, while denying comparable accoouhations to Native American inmatéty of
Cleburne Tex.473 U.S. at 439.

For the foregoing reasons, Michalski’s elqoietection claims will proceed against
Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, and Laffaigubeir individual ad official capacities
for the denial of collective smudging and eqa@atess to religious litature and educational
opportunities.

C. Crue and Unusual Punishment

Michalski claims that the suspension of Nat&merican prayer services, the denial of
collective and individuasmudging, the confiscation of his sdyging supplies, and the repeated
harassment he endured from several of thendiafiets violated his Eighth Amendment protection
against cruel and unusual punishment. The Qaimipfails to plead a plausible Eighth

Amendment violation and thetaim must be dismissed.
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The Eighth Amendment prohibits “cruel andusual punishment[].” U.S. Const. amend.
VIlI; see alsdRobinson v. California370 U.S. 660, 667 (1962nh@orporating the Eighth
Amendment’s prohibition of cruel and unusual @inmhent as binding on the states by way of the
Fourteenth Amendment)[S]et[ting] constitutional boundaries on the conditions of
imprisonment,” the Amendment bars “unnecessary and wanton infliction of paiprzoer:
Boddie v. Schneidefl05 F.3d 857, 861 (2d Cir. 1997) (internal quotations marks omitted). In
order to establish an EighAtmendment claim, a prisoner must satisfy two requireméntsirst,
the alleged punishment must be objectively and sufficiently serious under contemporary
community standard$d. Second, the prison official or offals must have had a “sufficiently
culpable state of mindld. (internal quotation marks omitted).

The alleged suspension of Native Americaayer services, deniaf collective and
individual smudging, confiscation of his smudgsupplies and the alleged repeated harassment
Michalski endured are insufficient to establéshEighth Amendment claim. Michalski has not
plausibly alleged that the defemds’ conduct in suspending praysarvices or iterfering with
his ability to smudge constituted an act of punishinoe was done with a culpable state of mind.
seePurcell v. Coughlin790 F.2d 263, 265 (2d Cir. 1986) (affing the lower court’s dismissal
of plaintiff's claim that prisn guards called him names and @eriim pens did not allege a
constitutional violation in paftecause the complaint did ndlege any injury stemming from
the denial of pens on one occasion.).

As for Michalski’s claims that several tife defendants engaged in “demeaning, hostile
[or] threatening behavior” or made “racist comr®rio him, such allegations do not rise to the
level of cruel and unusual punishment actionainiger the Eighth Amendment, especially when

Michalski has not alleged anyrnathat resulted therefrorBee Morgan v. Waré99 F. Supp.
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1025, 1055 (N.D.N.Y. 1988) (hurling odcial epithets at prisondpbes not support viable Eighth
Amendment claim)but see Timm v. Fauchet6 Civ. 531 (VAB), 2017 WL 1230846, *5 (D.
Conn. Mar. 31, 2017) (prisoner’s allegation tbatrection officer “erbally berated and
threaten[ed]” her in presence of other correctional staff causing her “severe and foreseeable
emotional distress, fear and anguish” suffidestated Eighth Amendment claim). For the
foregoing reasons, Michalski's Eighth Amdment claims must be dismissed.

D. Due Process

Michalski claims that, in retaliating agairMtchalski for engaging the grievance system,
several defendants violated his Fifth Amendmagtits. The Court finds that this claim is not
cognizable under the Fifth Amendment and must be dismissed.

The Fifth Amendment providesiNb person shall be deprivedIdg, liberty, or property,
without due process of lawU.S. Const. amend. V. Whilg¢tlhe Due Process Clause of the Fifth
Amendment prohibits the United States, [] the Puecess Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment
prohibits the States, from depriving any person of property without “due process of law.”
Dusenbery v. United States34 U.S. 161, 167 (2002ymbrose v. City of New Yqr&23 F.

Supp. 2d 454, 46667 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (finding a duegssclaim against a city was “properly
brought under the Fourteenth Amendment,thetFifth Amendment”). Michalski has not
alleged that a federal officialolated his Fifth Amendment rigéitnor has he otherwise alleged
facts to state a claim under the Fifth Amendméacordingly, his Fifth Amendment claim is
dismissed.
V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, CamerBiSMISSED as a plaintiff to this action.

Defendants Torres, Bailey, Dosdtle, Rowald, and Salgado ab#d SM1SSED as defendants to
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this action. Michalski’s Motions to Proceadd Commence Service, ECF No. 14, 22, are
DENIED as moot.

Michalski’s claims for monetary damagagainst all defendants in their official
capacities ar®I SM1SSED under 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b)(2).

Michalski’s retaliation claims afel SM I SSED without prejudice. Mthalski’s Fifth and
Eighth Amendment claims are alBdSM | SSED. Michalski’s First Amendment Free Exercise
Clause claims may proceed against defatsl&emple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe,
Laffargue, Valeriano, Williams, Mataos, Mili¥aharey, St. John, Tello, Ellis, Edwards, Sterno,
Lawler, Viska, Robinson, Lopes, King, Buckthrand Whitehead in #ir individual capacities
for monetary relief and in their official capaes for declaratoryrad injunctive relief. The
RLUIPA claims may proceed against those sdefendants in their official capacities for
injunctive relief only. The Fourteenth Amendmé&uual Protection Clause claims may proceed
against Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Enfé affargue in their individual capacities for
monetary relief and in their official capities for declaratoryral injunctive relief.

Within twenty-one (21) days of this Order, the U.S. Marshals Service shall serve the
summons, a copy of the complaint and trider on defendants Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno,
Shamma, Erfe, Laffargue, Valeriano, Willianvataos, Milio, Yaharey, St. John, Tello, Ellis,
Edwards, Sterno, Lawler, Viska, Robinsonpes, King, Buckland, and Whitehead in their
official capacities by deliveringne copy of the necegsgadocuments in person to the Office of
the Attorney General, 55 Bl Street, Hartford, CT, 06141.

The Clerk of Court shallerify the current work addsses for defendants Semple,
Rinaldi, Bruno, Shamma, Erfe, Laffargue,|&@&ano, Williams, Mataos, Milio, Yaharey, St.

John, Tello, Ellis, Edwards, Sterno, Lawl¥€iska, Robinson, Lopes, King, Buckland, and
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Whitehead with the Department of Correction Gdfof Legal Affairs, mail a waiver of service
of process request packet containing the comiplaiaach defendant at the confirmed address
within twenty-one (21) days of this Order, and report to ti@ourt on the status of the waiver
request on thehirty-fifth (35) day after mailing. If any defendant fails to return the waiver
request, the Clerk shall make arrangements foensgn service by the U.S. Marshals Service on
him or her, and the defendant shall be requiogahy the costs of such service in accordance
with Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d).

Defendants Semple, Rinaldi, Bruno, Shambixde, Laffargue, Valeriano, Williams,
Mataos, Milio, Yaharey, St. John, Tello, Elligwards, Sterno, Lawler, Viska, Robinson,
Lopes, King, Buckland, and Whitehesglall file their response the complaint, either an
answer or motion to dismissjthin sixty (60) days from the date the notice of lawsuit and
waiver of service of summonsformsare mailed tothem. If they chooséo file an answer,
they shall admit or deny theledations and respond to thego@zable claims recited above.
They may also include any and all additional defenses permitted by the Federal Rules.

Discovery, under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26-37, shall be compietgdn six months (180
days) from the date of thisorder. Discovery requests need et filed with the court. All
motions for summary judgment shall be filwthin seven months (210 days) from the date of
this order.

SO ORDERED this 6th day of October 201&t Bridgeport, Connecticut.

/sl Victor A. Bolden

VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITEDSTATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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